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Monday, December 12, 2010


--- Upon commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

The Board has convened this morning in the matter of EB-2010-0221, which concerns a notice of intention to make an order for compliance, suspension and an administrative penalty against Summitt Energy Management Inc.

Today's hearing is pursuant to Procedural Order No. 5 in that proceeding and is intended to elicit evidence with respect to the sales practices employed by Summitt during the month of September 2010.  Summitt sought an opportunity to clarify that, and this is that opportunity.

May I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. SELZNICK:  Stephen Selznick for Summitt Energy, and with me is Gaetana Girardi, the director of compliance for Summitt Energy, who will also be the witness appearing today on behalf of Summitt Energy.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Selznick.

MR. TUNLEY:  Good morning, Mr. Sommerville.  Phil Tunley appearing for -- from Stockwoods appearing for compliance staff and compliance counsel.  With me is Andrea Gonsalves from Stockwoods, and also Maureen Helt, seconded to work with us from the Board Staff.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. DUFFY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Patrick Duffy, counsel for Board Staff, and with me is Gona Jaff.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the usual suspects have assembled again.

Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SELZNICK:  Not specifically, but I am not sure what the order of the day is.  We have Ms. Girardi here to give evidence, but I thought it might be helpful, before she took the stand and gave her evidence, to give a little bit of background to what she might be speaking of and why we requested what we did in our letter of November 23rd, to give some context to what she might be speaking about for a moment or two.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is not normally the Board's practice.  Do we have any submissions on that?  This is in the nature of an opening statement, I would think, Mr. Selznick?

MR. SELZNICK:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any comments?

MR. TUNLEY:  I have no objection, and perhaps I will reserve any comments I may have until you have decided and Mr. Selznick has proceeded.

MR. DUFFY:  That's fine.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is perfectly all right, Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  So the --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will swear Ms. Girardi after your opening remarks.  

Thank you.
Opening Statement by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  I think the procedural order today, as noted in Procedural Order No. 5, comes out of our request for clarification in our letter of November 23rd, which I think just sort of begs that we should give a little bit of chronology to the compliance events so when Ms. Girardi speaks, the Board will have context for it, because I know there has been a lot of evidence in this proceeding and quite a lot of numbers of binders in evidence.

I will be referring -- the only thing that I think beyond what Ms. Girardi's evidence today will be that I will be referring to is the compendium of documents of compliance counsel, which was Exhibit K6.4, only because it has a good set of documents, some of the background documents here, and it is already in evidence in this proceeding.

So if I can take you back to the notice of intention of June 17th, concurrent with that notice, the Board issued an interim compliance order ex parte on June 17th, and that is found at tab 1 of the compendium of documents I just referred to.

Paragraph 4 of that ex parte order required Summitt to provide information to the Board, as required, with respect to the steps taken to ensure compliance with the sections it had referred to in the interim compliance order.

In response to that initial order, there was some back and forth with the Board, including a request for an extension of time made by our office, given some circumstances that happened, to file a request for a hearing, and that resulted in Procedural Order No. 1 of the Board being issued on June 28th, which is tab 2 of that compendium.

One of the conditions of that extension was that paragraph 2 of the order that said:
"Summitt shall provide the Board a written assurance no later than June 30th, 2010 detailing the steps it is taking or that it will take to ensure sales agents are in compliance with the interim order for compliance."

And then specifying what information you would like to see in that order.

In response to that Procedural Order No. 1, Summitt, by letters of our office of June 30th and July 17th, which are tabs 3 and 4 of that compendium, put forth the interim compliance program that Summitt was about to put into effect in response to that order.

That is where the interim compliance program stood in June and July, and Ms. Girardi will speak to that in a few moments.

We then had the oral hearing in this proceeding between August 30th and September 8th, and that resulted in Procedural Order No. 4 being issued, ultimately, asking the parties to file written submissions as to the liability portion and the remediation and penalty portion.  And in that order, the one component was Summitt file its responses by September 20th, 2010, which it did.  And also in filing -- I should say in filing those submissions, the Board asked certain questions be addressed by both parties, none of which I think bear on this particular proceeding today.

Submissions were provided, and then in Summitt Energy's written submissions of September 20th, Summitt Energy, on the issue of remediation and penalty, took three alternate positions, because there had been no finding on liability at that time yet by the Board.

So in September 20th, the position that Summitt took in its written submissions was that no penalty or remediation was warranted in the first instance, because our position was that liability had not been proved or, if it had been proved in any of the cases, Summitt's due diligence efforts should have mitigated that liability.

Then, in the alternative, we argued that if liability was found and not mitigated by Summitt's due diligence efforts, Summitt proposed - and I underscore the word "proposed" - a 14 point compliance program and a recommendation as to the administrative monetary penalty.

Then the decision in this matter was rendered on November 18th, in which the statement is made that essentially the Board adopted the 14-Point Program and directed a random audit in the month of September to determine Summitt's compliance with the 14-Point Program, and that resulted in our letter of November 25th, I believe, to the Board asking for clarification, given that it is our position that that 14-Point Program was a proposed program.

There had been an interim compliance program in effect in June and July in response to the interim order, but that the 14-Point Program in its totality was a proposed program, and we were waiting to hear what the response to liability had been, and also to note -- which I don't think this is a huge issue, but to note that in September, when that program was proposed in the written submission, we only had the benefit of the August draft amendments to the code and the regulations.

And since that time, September and November, those codes and regulation amendments have been really modified and finalized and enacted, and we're seeking clarification on that point.  I think that almost goes without saying, that they would comply to the codes and amendments as finally written as opposed to their draft form.

So that is the background of what Ms. Girardi will be speaking to today.  She is prepared to take the stand and to be of assistance in both explaining the timing of the interim compliance program and the 14-Point Program.  What she has prepared, and I would like to hand up and give to my friends as well - and she will be speaking to it - are two tables which I will ask her to identify and enter as evidence.

One speaks to the 14-Point Program and one speaks to the interim program in a table format, so you can see as she is speaking what was effective on what dates.  May I hand those up to the Board and circulate them at this time, subject to my friend taking a look at them?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  All right.  Thank you.

[Mr. Selznick passes out the tables to counsel and 

Board Panel Members.]

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Chair, for the sake of the record, we probably we should mark this as an exhibit, and hopefully my count is still good.  I see we have -- there are two separate documents, Mr. Selznick?

MR. SELZNICK:  That's correct.  Although they're different in body, in the title line one says "Table of action initiated by Summitt Energy Management Inc. in response to the Interim Order of Compliance."

That should be the first exhibit she will speak to.

MR. DUFFY:  I see.  Okay.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the other one is the 14-Point Program, so if you order them chronologically, I would do them in that order. 

MR. DUFFY:  Why don't we -- assuming there will be -- or holding any objections potentially to these, because I think they should be put to Ms. Girardi and we will allow compliance counsel any objections, but we will mark them for at least identification purposes. 

The first one, then, "Table of action initiated by Summitt Energy Management Inc. in response to the Interim Order of Compliance", if my numbering is correct, I believe we are at K7.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  Document entitled "TABLE OF ACTION INITIATED BY SUMMITT ENERGY MANAGEMENT INC. IN RESPONSE TO THE INTERIM ORDER OF COMPLIANCE"


MR. DUFFY:  And the table "14 Point Compliance Program" proposed in the closing submissions of Summitt Energy Management Inc. will be K7.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K7.2:  Document entitled "14 POINT COMPLIANCE PROGRAM"


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  So with that statement just for context, I am prepared for Ms. Girardi to take the stand to be sworn as a witness.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much. 

MR. TUNLEY:  If I could just, Mr. Chair, while the witness is being sworn, make two comments at this stage. 

First of all, that we are obviously here at the request of Summitt Energy and at the direction of the Board in the procedural order.

We do -- and I have expressed to both counsel -- want to ensure that the evidence is strictly limited.  There are two issues raised in the letter, and there is really one issue for evidence in your order, which I think is an appropriate issue, dealing with the extent of implementation.

We just want to make sure that the scope of the hearing doesn't go beyond that.  We want to keep it very focussed on the issues that are before you.  But secondly, I have suggested to Mr. Duffy -- because it is quite an unusual process, and the issue to some degree is one that the Board has taken in hand with its own interest in hearing the evidence in the procedural order -- I have suggested that Mr. Duffy might do his cross-examination before I am called on to cross-examine, to deal with any issues that the Board has identified that relates to the Board's decision.  And then if I could, my cross could follow Mr. Duffy's.  I think that would be the most appropriate, and hopefully I will have very little to say or very little to add, but I don't think it is -- given the issues, it is not appropriate for compliance counsel to be sort of taking the lead, if you will.

It is very much an issue of the Board's Order and what the Board understood, and I would like that to be the focus, rather than sort of my taking the lead, if I may put it that way.  Anyway, that has been my proposal to Mr. Duffy and that is the reason for it, so that the Board understands.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Duffy, just before we embark on the examinations, do you have a response to that?

MR. DUFFY:  I spoke with Mr. Tunley before we started, and I think that is fine.  I think it makes sense under the circumstances for us to lead off, and he can follow if he has anything. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Selznick, I imagine that is a matter of indifference to you? 

MR. SELZNICK:  I am content with that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

So we will proceed in that fashion.  Thank you. 
GAETANA GIRARDI, SWORN


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me just say before you begin the examination, Mr. Selznick, what our expectations for today are.  

What we would expect to see is the completion of Ms. Girardi's evidence, cross-examination and any redirect, and then probably give the parties an opportunity for oral submissions.

If the Board can arrive at a decision or at the clarification that I think is required orally today, that is what we would propose to do.  That is our intention, is to try to get through the submissions and a decision point today, as well.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am content with that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Selznick?

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  Ms. Girardi, could you just state your name for the record, please?

MS. GIRARDI:  Gaetana Girardi.

MR. SELZNICK:  And you have been sworn today? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And will you confirm that your position with Summitt Energy is director of compliance and regulatory affairs? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And that is the same position you held when you appeared before the Board on September 8th in this proceeding? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Although you have been sitting through this proceeding, so I am not sure I have to remind you, but we do have a confidentiality arrangement so I will just state it for the record.  If you find the need to refer to any of the complainants or any of the agents, please do so only by their initials or by general reference to the complainant or agent.

MS. GIRARDI:  I will.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  So you are familiar with Procedural Order No. 5 in this matter? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And why we're here today? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And you should have before you the two tables that were just entered into as evidence as exhibits K7.1 and K7.2.  Do you have those there?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can I take you for a moment to the first table, which is the one titled:  "Table of action initiated by Summitt Energy Management Inc. in response to Interim Order of Compliance" dated June 17th, 2010, and Procedural Order No. 1 dated June 28th, 2010.  Do you have that in front of you?

MS. GIRARDI:  I do.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am going to allow you to address this table in a second, but just for clarification of the headings, the column marked "Item" is just a sequential numbering of the items; is that correct? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the "Action," these are the actions that were done in response to the Interim Compliance Order? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the "References" are just references to the letters that I spoke of, of June 30th and July 7th from Cassels, Brock in which those were set out?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the "Cross-reference," next column, that's "Cross-reference to Proposed 14-Point Program," is to where those -- this action might be found as part of the 14-Point Program in the written submissions of Summitt Energy?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the last column called "Implementation date" is some narratives and some discussions you are going to speak on this morning; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  So with that in mind, could you just walk the Board through this table, focussing on the action that was requested in response or advised in response to the Interim Compliance Notice and the "Implementation" column that you -- the steps that Summitt took in response to that?

MS. GIRARDI:  I will do that.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

MS. GIRARDI:  So item number 1 is the new Summitt sales verification process, also known as the quality assurance call that takes place at the time of the sale.

And that was implemented -- the work began on June 18th and it was -- became effective June 28th.  So all of Summitt's office -- sales offices were introduced to the call, and each sales agent was required to complete a quality assurance call and the customer was required to positively affirm all points on the call in order for Summitt to proceed to the next stage of enrolment, including reaffirmation.

In addition to that, Summitt began auditing 20 percent of the quality calls made on and after July 9th, 2010.

So that completes item number 1. 

The second item deals with consumer complaint reporting.  There were two proposals in that action item.

The first dealt with the tracking of consumer complaints and the classification of reporting of the complaints.  And on October 18th, 2010, Summitt completed work on the system reporting of the complaints in the following three categories, as recommended:  agent conduct, contract management, and customer service. 

In regards to the second item of consumer complaint reporting, that deals specifically with sales agent complaint reporting.  And as of the week of September 6th, Summitt completed the automation of its agent complaint reporting system, and the process was completed in which, on a weekly basis, sales agents received a report entitled   "Agent point report," which lists for all agents the number and type of complaints received and the agent complaint-to-contract-signed ratio.

Item number 3 deals with the tracking of agent complaints and is linked to item 2.  And again, it states that as of September 6th Summitt completed the automation of its agent complaint reporting system and the process to distribute the reports on a weekly basis to its sales agencies.  And as of September 17th, Summitt's management team was receiving, by automatic e-mail distribution, the weekly agent complaint reports. 

Item number 4 deals with the solicitation procedures and performance, which include agreements.  On June 30th, Summitt advised the Board that it was going to change its contract format, and effective June 29th, 2010, Summitt launched a new agreement form with the terms and conditions attached.

And Summitt launched, as of June 30th, 2010, a disclosure form, which was a non-carbon replica form, a copy of which is left with the customer and a copy is submitted to Summitt Energy.

There was also -- in addition, under the category number 4, we also took about the sales quality assurance call as discussed.  As of June 28th, all our offices were introduced to the call and each sales agent was required to complete the call before the contract was enrolled.

And the last item deals with conduct -- code of conduct training to its sales agents, and on June 29th, 2010 Summitt began implementing a code of conduct training for all its sales agents, and that was completed on July 16th, 2010.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  So just to take you back to the table for a moment, so for the month of September 2010, item 2, for example, consumer complaint reporting, the classification and the automation was put into place on September 6th, but the first item was implemented October 18th?

MS. GIRARDI:  The final stage of that rollout of those reporting was implemented October 18th.

MR. SELZNICK:  So can you tell us what an audit, a random audit in September, would have shown for this particular component?

MS. GIRARDI:  It would have shown that Summitt was tracking complaints by these categories, but the reporting, the final reporting, was completed in October 18th.  So the actual generation of the report was completed in October 18th.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  If we can move to the second chart for a moment, the one that is identified as Exhibit K7.2, which is titled "Table of 14 point compliance program proposed in the closing submissions of Summitt Energy Management Inc." dated September 20th, 2010?  Do you have that in your hand?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I do.

MR. SELZNICK:  Again, just for context here, the first column marked "Item" are just sequential numberings of those 14 points; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the column marked "action" is the particular item in the 14-Point Program that was proposed; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the reference is the reference in the written submissions, where that appears; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the "cross-reference to the June 30th, 2010 and June 7th, 2010 response to interim compliance order", that is where this would have been referred to in that interim compliance program, that there was -- if it had been a carry-over from that program?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  The last column, "Implementation Date", is similar to the other one, which I am going to ask you to speak to in a moment, the timing and what has transpired with respect to that action?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And am I correct that in the column marked "cross-reference to June 30th, 2010 and July 7th, 2010 response to interim compliance order", the reference to "NA" appears.  That means that that particular action was something that was not in the interim compliance program, but just proposed newly in the written submissions?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  With that context, would you just walk us through this chart again?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

MS. GIRARDI:  So the first item deals with Summitt's business cards, and it states that Summitt will continue to employ a business card that incorporates its OEB licence number, Summitt's name, the name of the salesperson, the salesperson's ID, Summitt's toll-free number, Summitt's website.

If the OEB requires, Summitt will change the format of the business card to a more traditional business card sizing.

We are currently -- we were using the current business card format, the certificate that was presented during the hearing, so that was ongoing.

Item number 2 deals with sales agent ID badges and annual certification.  The proposal was -- well, Summitt's current salesperson ID badge contain the following information:  Summitt's name, Summitt's company logo, the OEB licence number, the salesperson's full name, the salesperson's ID number and a photograph of the salesperson, and it is worn on the outer clothing.

The proposal was that Summitt will add the following information to the ID badge:  A statement that Summitt was not -- does not represent the utility, the Ontario government or the OEB.

It will -- the proposal is to include a yearly expiry date, and the third proposal was that the ID badge will have on it an annual expiry date and the issuance of a new ID badge will be dependent upon the completion of annual certification.

And Summitt continues the practice of having the sales agents wear the ID badge on the outer clothing and, as described -- as I just briefly described, but, in addition, in October 2010, Summitt began rolling out a new ID badge template for the new sales agents to include the points 1 to 3 as just discussed.

Item number 3 speaks to the continuation of the point of sale quality assurance call and nothing -- the process is the same as we used in the interim order, which states that, as of June 28th, all offices were introduced to the call and were using the quality assurance call.  It was a mandatory requirement in order for the contract to be processed.

Proposal number 4 dealt with the reaffirmation call script.  So currently Summitt follows the OEB licence bulletin 2010-02 with respect to its reaffirmation call script.  Summitt's proposal was that it would revise the reaffirmation script to include the applicable topics in appendix D to the OEB's August 12th, 2010 proposed code of conduct amendments.

Summitt proposed to implement the new code.  However, it stuck to the original reaffirmation script that it had there.  Summitt will obviously implement the new reaffirmation script or verification call in January 1st, 2011 to comply with the current regulations and code requirements.

The fifth item deals with the disclosure form, and, as stated when I talked about the interim actions taken, as of June 29th, Summitt launched the disclosure form and customers were required to sign a copy of the form in order for the contract to be processed.

And Summitt proposes -- oh, just backstep here.  So in the -- one of Summitt's proposal was to amend the disclosure form to include the proposals outlined in the OEB's August 12th proposed code of conduct amendments.  That was a proposal.  We did not make any changes to the disclosure form.

Item number 6 deals with the continued use of the new combined format agreement.  And as stated on August 29th, Summitt did launch a new agreement form, which included the terms and conditions.  The brochure, which previously included terms and conditions, did not exist.  It was discontinued on June 29th.

And that is all for that item.

Number 7, Summitt proposed that it would change its contract -- contest practices.  So currently customers may be subject to exit fees in the form of liquidated damages if the consumer enters into a contract with Summitt, and for a term that overlaps with another retailer's contract.  Summitt proposed it will cancel its contract without an exit fee if the consumer is already on a contract with an existing retailer.

We stated this would accelerate the implementation of the regulations under the ECPA, Energy Consumer Protection Act.  Those changes were not made.  However, obviously, they will be made in January 1st, 2011, as required.

Item number 8, there was a recommendation that we would enhance and -- further enhancements to Summitt's sales agent training and testing.  So it states here:  Prior to June 30th, Summitt provided in-class training consisting of content of Summitt's training manual, the Ontario Energy Association training.  In addition, there was field training in response to the Board's interim order.

Summitt implemented a new code of conduct training, and that was rolled out on June 29th, 2010.  It completed July 16th.

Summitt proposed to further redesign its training in its September submission and testing module to meet the requirements of the August 12th, 2010 OEB proposed code of conduct changes.

On August 6th, 2010 Summitt revised its standardized sales agent training and certification.  The rollout and process was done by holding a meeting at Summitt's head office with all its sales managers.

The changes include requiring sales agents to score a minimum of 80 percent on the certification test, which was previously 75.  And there was -- as mentioned earlier, there was a change to the ID badge format.

Number 9, there was a proposal to enhance Summitt's training and testing for its reaffirmation agents.  Summitt completed this in December.  As of December 28th, Summitt has trained and tested all of its verification agents to comply with the new regulations that will take effect on January 1st.

Item number 10 deals with amendments to sales agency and salespersons' independent contractor agreements.  Currently, all sales agents and independent –- sorry, all sales agencies and independent salespersons are required to sign a contract with Summitt Energy.

Summitt's proposal is that it would enter into amendments to those agreements or replacement agreements, which would specifically outline Summitt's compliance monitoring program and remedial action schedule.

In October 2010, Summitt began rolling out amendments to its independent contractor agreements to include sections referring to Summitt's compliance monitoring program and remedial action program, and the sales agents were required to sign them and state that they agreed and understand their requirements under the section.

In January 2011 Summitt will require its existing sales agents to sign an amendment to their existing regional distributor agreement, and all new agencies will be required to sign a new agreement which includes detailed information on Summitt's compliance monitoring program and remedial action schedule.

Item 11, low-volume consumer agent conduct complaints.  The proposal was that Summitt proposes to enhance its process and procedures in this regard by implementing a requirement in section 7.2 of the proposed OEB August 12th code of conduct, which provides that if a complaint is not resolved to the customer's satisfaction, Summitt will provide the consumer the OEB Consumer Relation Centre's contact information.

This will be done January 1st, 2011, to comply with the code of conduct.

Item number 12 deals with the compliance monitoring program of Summitt Energy, and it details several items here, categories.  I am just trying to summarize it so I don't have to read the whole text.

As mentioned in the interim order, as of September 6th, Summitt completed the automation of a report entitled the "Agent point report," which is distributed to all sales agencies on a weekly basis.  There was also the completion on September 17th of Summitt's internal automation and automatic distribution process of these reports for management.

There was no change on those.  We are continuing to use those two reports and processes are still in place.   We continue auditing 20 percent of the calls.

The category underneath, the quality assurance audit, deals with the agent point system and sales managers' meetings.  It is still ongoing, as it was in the interim order.  As of September 7th, that process was in place, where the reports were distributed and weekly meetings were held with the sales agencies.

We talk about compliance monitoring program enhancements.  Summitt proposes to further enhance its compliance monitoring program by, concurrently with this communication with the sales agencies, request sales agents to sign off and review each low-volume consumer complaint report alleging agent misconduct of the individual sales involved.

Sub item number 2 under that category is automating the process of e-mailing the weekly agent complaint reports to be sent to the sales manager and Summitt's management staff.  This will he eliminate the manual process of compliance specialists generating and e-mailing the reports.


As of August 6th, Summitt required its sales agents to acknowledge receipt and review of all OEB consumer complaints, and as of September 17th, as stated, the automation of the report was completed for Summitt's management team.  And the automation, Summitt's in the process of automating the distribution of the report to the sales agencies, and that will be completed in January 2011.

The other item under this heading is Summitt will require the salespersons -- Summitt will require that salespersons completing retraining with one of Summitt's compliance department employees once their compliance factor reaches any of the remedial action phases.  This portion of the enhanced compliance monitoring program has been in effect since September 7th, 2010.

Item 13 deals with the process audit and implementation of audit recommendations, and this is proposed to be implemented pursuant to the closing submissions of Summitt dated September 20th, if adopted in OEB -- in the OEB November 18th, 2010 order and decision in this proceeding.  Obviously we haven't gotten there yet.

Tied to that is the continued compliance reporting.  And this was a proposal that we –- we haven't reached this stage yet of the audit.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  In your evidence just now on this chart where you have mentioned a few times that the proposal was not enacted.  Am I correct that that is because it was a proposal and you were awaiting a decision of the Board that eventually came out November 18th before you enacted it?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  You heard my opening submissions to the Board.  Am I correct that when we prepared the written submissions, we only had the benefit of the August proposed amendments to the code and the regulations at that time?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And that it is your intention when you implement a compliance program to comply with the law as finally enacted and effective in January?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Just on another point, if an audit is to be undertaken -- just because of timing in the month of December -- are you aware from having spoken with, or people at your office spoken with the auditors, whether they're capable of actually doing an audit in December, physically, as opposed to doing one in January after the holidays?

MS. GIRARDI:  It is my understanding that the audit cannot be completed in December.  Work needs to begin in January.

MR. SELZNICK:  Is that due to the holiday schedule of the auditors?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, subject to any questions that may arise out of the cross-examination or questions from the Board.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Selznick.

Mr. Duffy?  Do you need a minute, Mr. Duffy?  There is a fair amount of material here.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Chair, a minute would be appreciated, given the new material we have been given.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is fair, Mr. Selznick.  We will adjourn until 10:30.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:14 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:36 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

The Board apologizes for being a little late back.  We had a wardrobe malfunction.

Mr. Duffy.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Duffy:

MR. DUFFY:  Good morning, Ms. Girardi.

MS. GIRARDI:  Good morning.

MR. DUFFY:  I am going to work from Exhibit K7.1, the table you provided this morning on your actions implemented to respond to the interim order.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  I haven't had a chance to review it in fine detail, but I take it that under the heading "Action", and you go through and describe the various set of actions, those are, in substance, the same as the ones that were laid out in your counsel's letters of June 30th and July 7th?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Are there any changes of note or of any significance in any of those?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So with the first one, dealing with the sales verification call, I just want to make sure that I understand that.  I am correct in saying that as of June 28th, 2010, this was implemented, and so all contracts that flowed after that date with Summitt would have been subject to a sales verification call?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  So that is something that the Board could effectively audit by taking a random sampling of transactions from a date after June 29th?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, thank you.  On page 2, under the same numbering, you talk about Summitt's auditing of 20 percent of the calls made on or after July 9th, 2010.

Again, I think I am confident in saying that after July 9th, that is something that the Board could audit?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, thank you.  My next questions have to deal with number 4.  We will just jump through, the solicitation procedures and performance.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Again, this is something that -- as I understand it, this is taken straight out of June 30th and July 7th letters?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  For the first one, dealing with agreements, the single-part agreement, again, you wouldn't disagree with me when I say that all agreements written after June 29th, 2010 that flowed should have been using the single form?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  And that is something that the Board could audit, again, by taking a random sampling of transactions any time after that date?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  On the disclosure form, on the next page?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  First, I just want to make sure that I -- I think I picked up a bit of a typo.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. DUFFY:  In the action paragraph, the last sentence is describing the form.  It says:
"A copy of the new proposed disclosure form was attached as schedule C to the letter of June 30th, 2010."

And then it says:
"...and modified by the form attached as Exhibit B to the letter of June 30th, 2010."

I assume that is supposed to be the letter of July 7th?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, sorry.

MR. DUFFY:  Has that form -- are you still using that same form?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And you haven't changed it as a result of any of the codes to date?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. DUFFY:  So, again, all contracts, then, written and flowed after June 29th with Summitt, the customer should have received a copy of this disclosure form?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Again, that is something we could audit by taking a random sampling of the transactions done after June 29th?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  The next thing on the list is the sales quality assurance call.  I think we have covered that already.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  So the next page is the code of conduct training?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  I am a bit confused.  Perhaps you can help me understand when you say the code of conduct training was implemented on June 29th and completed on July 16th.  So when I look at the letters, what I see is written training materials that was attached to your letters of June 30th?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  So when you say the implementation was completed on July 16th, what are we talking about there?

MS. GIRARDI:  The last training session was done on July 16th.

MR. DUFFY:  And were all of your agents required to come in and do the new training.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  So every single agent now selling Summitt Energy contracts has done this training?

MS. GIRARDI:  Everyone who was active at that time, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  But anyone who has come on since would have presumably done it as part of their --


MS. GIRARDI:  Certification, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  So as of July 16th, 2010, then, all agents should have completed this training, or new training if they're a new agent?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And that is, again, something we could audit by doing some sort of a random sampling of agents?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  When you were here on September the 8th, you talked about a point system.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And I note it shows up in the 14 points, but you also spoke on it in your testimony of September 8th as if it was in effect at the time.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Maybe the best thing to do is to take your 14 points table, if you have that, Exhibit K7.2.  I have it as page 12.

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry, I am not where you're at.

MR. DUFFY:  Sorry.  Your table on the 14 points.

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, yes, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And at page 12, you speak about the agent point system.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And, I mean, I read it that this is the same proposal you were speaking about when you were here on September 8th.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  There have been no significant changes between then and now in the program?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  On "Implementation Date", under that heading, it says "ongoing".

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  As of September 7th, 2010, the subject of the weekly sales meetings is the weekly agent point reports?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Maybe just -- when you say agent point reports --


MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  -- what exactly do you mean by that?  Like, what are they?

MS. GIRARDI:  It's the title of the report.  It's an automated report which lists the sales agent's name, and the number of complaints under certain complaint types and their compliance factor.

MR. DUFFY:  Sorry.  This is a report that goes to Summitt as opposed to the agent?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  It goes to both Summitt and the sales agencies.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, I see.  When you say "ongoing", like, why would that be ongoing?  Why isn't that completed?  It says "ongoing".

MS. GIRARDI:  The rollout was completed on September 7th.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  It is ongoing.

MR. DUFFY:  I see.  So the program is ongoing?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Sorry, I thought the implementation was ongoing.

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. DUFFY:  So as of September 7th, this agent point tracking system was already in effect?

MS. GIRARDI:  The rollout was completed, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, thank you.  I am going to go back to the table on the interim order.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  7.1.  Just back to point 2, they were the ones that we skipped over there.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  So number 2 is consumer complaint reporting?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  I am going to take you over to the "Implementation Date" --


MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  -- column.  And why don't we start with number 2 there?

MS. GIRARDI:  Hmm-hmm.  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  So this is the agent point report that we were just having an exchange about; is that right?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  So it is part of the same report?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, it is.

MR. DUFFY:  It goes both, then, to Summitt and to the agent?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So it says here that as of the week of September 6th, that was completed?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Now, in your earlier testimony when you were being examined by Mr. Selznick, you said that it was in the final stages and that you were tracking by categories, but you weren't generating reports until October?

MS. GIRARDI:  You're referring to item number 1; is that right?

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  That is separate from the agent complaint reporting.

MR. DUFFY:  Yes.

MS. GIRARDI:  Item number 1 is an internal report --


MR. DUFFY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  -- that classifies or groups all complaints received by Summitt, consumer complaints.  It is internal reporting only used by Summitt management team.  And the rollout of that was completed on October 18th.  The automated report was completed then.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So what we're talking about is two reports, one by sales agent, given to the agency, given to Summitt?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  The other one, a more high-level report of all of your agents broken down by categories of complaints --


MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  -- just for Summitt?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  So the first one was in effect as of September the 6th?

MS. GIRARDI:  Right.

MR. DUFFY:  And the second one as of October 18th, 2010?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And for the second one, talking about the larger report of all of the agents by categories, you said earlier that you have been tracking them but not generating the report? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. DUFFY:  Sorry.  With the second report that we were talking about --


MS. GIRARDI:  October 18th? 

MR. DUFFY:  The October 18th report.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  So what you call, I guess, the agent contract -- do you have a name for this report?  Maybe that might be easier. 

MS. GIRARDI:  I don't have it with me. 

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Fine.  So call it the October 18th reports.  I understood you to say earlier that you were tracking by category, but that the automated systems for the report didn't come into effect until October.

MS. GIRARDI:  Exactly. 

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  All complaints that come into the system are tagged with a complaint type, so that is done automatically.  And we can go and create our own reports by extracting the data.  But as of October 18th, that report now is auto-generated.

MR. DUFFY:  I see.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And how long have you been tracking complaints by type?

MS. GIRARDI:  Two years.

MR. DUFFY:  So --


MS. GIRARDI:  It's been -- yeah --


MR. DUFFY:  So it is something you could generate?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, exactly.

MR. DUFFY:  Reports --


MS. GIRARDI:  Right.

MR. DUFFY:  -- of the nature that you're speaking about for time periods prior to October the 18th, if necessary?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And that just raises another question in my mind, and sorry to jump around.  But with the other type of report, the agent report about specific agents --


MS. GIRARDI:  Point system?  Yes?

MR. DUFFY:  Not the point system, but the report about the complaints for the individual agent. 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes?

MR. DUFFY:  Yes.  Is that something you could generate back from September the 6th, as well? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  If need be?  Okay.

I think I have got what I want on point number 2, so point number 3 in your table is on the next page. 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  It is tracking agent complaints.  There is a bit of overlap, as I see it here. 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Again, let's go to the "Implementation date" column.  The first paragraph there, that seems to be a repeat of what was -- what we just discussed on the consumer complaints?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Then the second paragraph there speaks of, as of September 17th, Summitt's management was receiving, by e-mail distribution, weekly sales agent complaint reports?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Is this just when you got the automated reports of each agent, complaints for each agent?  Is that right, or is there something different here that --


MS. GIRARDI:  There is something different.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  That is another enhancement.  One of our goals was to automate the actual distribution of the report, so it wouldn't -- so it would be sent to someone's in-box automatically every week, as opposed to someone downloading the report and sending out the e-mail.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay. 

MS. GIRARDI:  So we, internally -- that report is sent to management automatically every week, without anybody -- without any manual intervention. 

MR. DUFFY:  I see.  Is it a different report? 

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  It is the same report.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So it is the same report.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And as of September 17th, you began e-mailing that out --


MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  -- to all senior management; is that right?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes. 

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Thank you.  The other couple of things I think that are outstanding from the 14 points, as I go through them, that weren't implemented as part of the interim order, one of the things that crops out is the business cards.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  So you changed your business cards 
since -- or you proposed to change them since the interim order has come out?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.  It was a proposal.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  You haven't actually done that? 

MS. GIRARDI:  No. 

MR. DUFFY:  Now, prior to this proceeding beginning, though, your agents were using a business card? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And that -- I haven't got it handy, but it was in the Summitt sales kit.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.  It is a certificate.

MR. DUFFY:  The certificate, that's right.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And agents were supposed to be using that for all of their sales?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So that is something we could go back and audit, again, by taking a random sampling of 20? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Mr. Selznick asked you some question about the timing of the audit.  As I understood it, you told us that the audit can't begin until January; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct. 

MR. DUFFY:  I gather from your exchange that you are going to be using -- you already selected an auditor? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  I guess this is perhaps more of an open question, that is, if the date were changed for the delivery of the audit to the Board, I mean, is that something that your auditors could work with?  A later date, an extra month? 

I can't remember what date we had.  I think we had January 15th.  So if we extended that a month to February 15th, would your auditors --


MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  -- work with that?  Okay.

And the auditor that you selected, was that done in with compliance counsel, or is that your own auditor?

MR. SELZNICK:  If I may assist the witness here, I believe there are a short list of auditors who have been discussed with compliance counsel, but I am not sure the actual final auditors has been resolved upon yet.

But I don't think there is an issue of who the auditor is.  I think it is more a question of when the field work can be done, as opposed to writing the report.

MR. DUFFY:  That's fair enough.  I didn't know that, so I appreciate that.  I think we just want to make sure that we understand the timing of that. 

That is all of Board Staff's questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Duffy.  Mr. Tunley? 


MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Tunley:

MR. TUNLEY:  Ms. Girardi, I may duplicate to some degree what has been covered by Mr. Duffy, and I apologize if I do that.  Just if I could start with Exhibit K7.2, your 14 point plan document that was marked today; do you have that? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I do.

MR. TUNLEY:  I take it from this that you have, even since the hearing, continued to implement new measures at various dates? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  So if I look at item number 2 on page 1, I see that it was in October of 2010 that you were rolling this out, the new badge template. 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So that would be in the field as of sometime in October? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And then if I go to item number 8 on page 6 -- item number 8 begins on page 5.  It's dealing with enhanced training.

I think Mr. Duffy dealt with this with you.  But by October 6, all of your sales force in the field was being trained with reference to your revised training material and have been trained; is that right? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And then number 10 on page 8 -- if you can just bear with me further -- you were entering into new contract arrangements with your existing sales agent -- agency and agents; is that correct?

And it says that in October 2010, you revised your independent contract agreement to include some of the details that we have been dealing with in this hearing. 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So as of, again, sometime in October 2010, your agencies and some of the agents in the field would be subject to contractual requirements to meet these new standards that you are rolling out as well; is that right?

MS. GIRARDI:  In October, the agreement with our individual sales agents was being rolled out. 

The one with the agency was not. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.

But was that done in connection with the training, then?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  That at the time they were retrained and re-certified, they also signed a new agreement with you? 

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  That is helpful.  Thank you. 

Then if I go to number 12 -- and I am pretty sure Mr. Duffy did deal with at least parts of this -- but this is your complaint reporting, tracking and compliance monitoring program?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  A number of steps, if I begin on page 11, were implemented in September.  September 6th for the first paragraph, and September 17 in the second paragraph, the last column, your management team was receiving these reports?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Then over the page, on page 12, agents began -- and the weekly sales manager meetings that you are conducting, they were based on these new tracking reports as of September 7?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Correct?  Then over the page again, as of dates in -- October 6th, we have, September 17, and from September 7th onwards, various portions of your compliance monitoring program had come into force; correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Just if I can clarify a couple of things where it seems there are issues still outstanding.

You talked about a revised disclosure form, which is item number 5 on the 14 point list?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I see it on -- it begins on page 3, and then over the page to page 4.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  As I understand it, you did implement -- sometime in the June 29th to July 16th period, you did implement the changes that we see set out on page 3; correct?

So there is a disclosure form in use at all times after that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  The only thing that you haven't done is, as I understand it, when you got the OEB's draft code on August 12th, you didn't revise that form immediately to reflect any new requirements in the code?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So you continued to use the form that you had implemented in June/July?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Then similarly, in terms of your training, which is number 8, as I understand it, we see the same pattern.

You did implement the new training program that you have talked about and it was in effect by October, but it had not been updated, as I understand it, to reflect the draft code of conduct as of August 12th, is that right, the training material?

MS. GIRARDI:  There were some updates made to it --


MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  -- on October 6th, and the examples were the score, the testing score, and the ID badge requirements.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. GIRARDI:  So we did do some updates to the training.

MR. TUNLEY:  Those were updates specifically with reference to the Board's code of conduct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  The draft code of conduct --


MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- as of August 12th.  All right.  Are there any other items that are similar in that sense that the draft code of conduct, which was, as I understand it, published by the Board in August 12th, may have suggested directions that you didn't implement at that time right away?

MS. GIRARDI:  Those were the two main changes, the test requirements and the badge.

MR. TUNLEY:  Those were the two main changes that the code of conduct would have required?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, exactly, that we made.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And they were not implemented, as you've said, not immediately?

MS. GIRARDI:  In October they were, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  In October they were?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So by October -- sorry, maybe I am misunderstanding.  I want to be very clear.

Is it the case, then, that by October of 2010, your training would have included the new amendments as proposed in the August 12 draft code?


MS. GIRARDI:  Some of the amendments -- one the amendments with a test requirement.  In October, we changed our test requirements to a score of 80 percent.

MR. TUNLEY:  I see.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  What is the other one, then?  Let's just be very clear.

MS. GIRARDI:  And the ID badge format was changed.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay, thank you very much.

Mr. Duffy did ask you -- and I have gone over this complaint tracking and compliance management program.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just to remind you, that was, I think, part of our June 30th letter to the Board.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you have that in Exhibit K6.4?

MS. GIRARDI:  I do.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think it is on page 3.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I don't have the tab, I beg your pardon, but does everyone have the letter?

On page 3, you deal with this new system.

MR. SELZNICK:  Sorry, do you have a copy of the two letters from June?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I do.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay, thanks.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is one or two, I think.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  It is said to be something that was required as of this date by the OEB's gas and electricity reporting and record keeping requirements, and you referred to sections 2.2.1, 4.2.1, do you see that, in introducing this item?

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry, Mr. Tunley.  Can you just start with that question again?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Sorry, it was a long question.  On page 3 --


MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- heading 2 deals with this topic.

MS. GIRARDI:  I am with you now, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  The first sentence says that this initiative is something that was actually required by the OEB's gas and electricity reporting and record keeping requirements, and you cite the two sections.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  2.2.1 and 4.2.1?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you say that implementation, as of this date, the date of this letter, implementation -- you are currently in the process?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Then am I right that these two items, 1 and 2, you have given us the implementation dates?

Sorry, I have just lost my cross-reference note.  It is Exhibit K7.2, page 3, I believe; is that right?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, that's right.

MR. TUNLEY:  So these were actually -- sorry, it is Exhibit K7.1, page 3.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I'm here.  I'm at that page.

MR. TUNLEY:  So these were actually implemented, respectively, September -- October the 18th and September 6th --


MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- is when they actually -- and I guess my question is:  Why did it take so long, from June 30th to October 18 -- September the 6th?  That's two-and-a-half months, two-plus months to implement these requirements which were already in Board reporting requirement documents, as far as I understand it?

MS. GIRARDI:  So item 2 on page 3 of our June 30th letter deals with consumer complaint reporting.

So we drew reference to our record keeping requirements, and we've been compliant with those requirements, in that we have been maintaining records of all written complaints.

The enhancement to that -- to that, in that area, would have been the classification of the complaints and the three groupings and the auto generating of that.  So we always had the ability to extract that data, but the actual report automation was completed on October 18th.

So we did have that capability.  It was just -- we are now in a position where that can be just generated automatically.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  I raise the question of just how long it took, because, in your submissions to the Board - and I think you will find it closing submissions page 204, paragraph 593 - Summitt indicated that it could implement the 14-Point Program within five days of a final Board order.

I am wondering why it took so long just to implement this one portion.

MS. GIRARDI:  We could always meet that requirement.  Again, it was a matter of switching the button on.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  You were waiting for the Board order at that point; is that right?

MS. GIRARDI:  No, that's not correct.  It was just a matter of --


MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry.

MS. GIRARDI:  We always had the capability of generating those reports.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  And we did do that, because we had the architecture in place to do that.

It was an enhancement that we were working towards, to get that automated.  It wasn't -- we were confident, because we could generate that ourselves, that it wasn't as a priority to just get that automated.  So what I am providing to you today is the latest status of the consumer complaint reporting and tracking system that now we have automated.

MR. TUNLEY:  And the status is that as of the middle of October, October the 18th, it was in effect for all purposes?

MS. GIRARDI:  The automated part was in effect for all purposes, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  You have talked about the auditor that you have selected.  You will agree with me that the selection of the auditor is subject to approval by the Board in one form or another?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And in terms of their availability over the holiday season, you will agree with me that relates to the timing of -- by reference to which they do the work of the audit.  It doesn't necessarily dictate what period, the period in which they're looking at the customer files and when those customer files were actually executed?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So it is just when we're going to get the results?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  It is going to be into January?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  It doesn't mean we can't conduct the audit with respect to September transactions or October transactions or November transactions?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  I think those are my questions, Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any re-direct, Mr. Selznick?

MR. SELZNICK:  No re-direct here.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That leads us -- Ms. Girardi, you are excused.  Thank you very much.

MS. GIRARDI:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Excuse me.  My colleague may have some questions.

MS. HARE:  No, I don't.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That leads us to submissions.  It occurs to the Board - and I would like initially some submissions from counsel on this point - as to whether it might not be possible for a consensus to be arrived at with respect to the terms of reference for the audit to be completed, particularly with this guidance, that the Board sees value in extending the audit period to October for confirmation of a number of the items that arose in October, as opposed to September.  And that the Board would be looking for confirmation of the events that Ms. Girardi has testified to.

It occurs to the Board that it may well be possible to arrive at a consensus on the terms of reference.

Mr. Selznick do you have any reaction to that? 

MR. SELZNICK:  I am comfortable with that, with, I guess, one proviso, and that is the wording of the actual order and decision on page 50 talks about adherence to the 14-Point Program, and I think that is my issue. 

I don't think were too concerned, really, about the date window, as long as we are clear on what was capable of being audited during that window.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is precisely what I mean, that the terms of reference of the audit would be -- we would stipulate those according to the exhibits that we have seen today, for example, in Ms. Girardi's testimony. 

So we would be focussing the -- when I say "terms of reference of the audit" that's what I mean, that we would be defining with sufficient particularity the items that would be subject to that audit, which would include the items that Ms. Girardi has testified to and that are represented in the document. 

We would extend that period.  The Board is interested in hearing submissions with respect to the extension of that period into the end of October, because a number of events occur in October.  And that if we did that, then I think we would have an effective audit and we would not be tied to the 14 points, per se, at all. 

MR. SELZNICK:  So that leads me to the next question that maybe the Board can give us some guidance on.

I had initially thought it might be more valuable, if the Board is ordering compliance with the 14-Point Program, that an audit be conducted once that program is in effect.  That is why I proposed in my letter that January would be the month.

If the Board is interested in determining whether the interim order with some of the 14 point components was effective in October or November, that is also -- I am not in great issue with that, but it is different than what the Order says, so...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess the issue here, Mr. Selznick, is that the Board had an appreciation of the evidence arising from the testimony and submissions that was –- that, in effect, the 14 points were being adopted. 

And I guess the clarification that you sought in your letter is precisely the clarification that Ms. Girardi has provided today, or attempted to provide today. 

So the order would be modified, I suppose, to the extent that the terms of reference would identify with particularity the specific items that the audit would be directed to, some of which fall within the 14 points, per se, and some of which are -- really arise directly from Ms. Girardi's testimony this morning.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am content with that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But do you think there is a reasonable prospect of that?  That is the core question. 

I sense that there probably is a list of items that fall within the -- that reasonable category.

Mr. Tunley? 

MR. TUNLEY:  I think, subject to one comment that I will make in a moment, it is certainly possible, based on the evidence today, to ensure that the auditors are not directed to audit, with reference to a standard, parts of the 14-Point Program that were not implemented.

We agree there would be no point in that. 

We are quite clear, from our side, that the purpose of the audit is to take a look, for this Board to be satisfied as to the efficacy of the interim arrangements in effect between June and January 1.

So we are in agreement that that should be the focus.

But the only thing is -- and we have always contemplated in all of our discussions with Summitt Energy that the auditors not be restricted.  They may choose to look at some things. 

So I don't want to -- I just say this in the room so that everybody hears it.  I don't want to -- if you wish -- have a strict checklist that binds the auditors to only look at X, Y, Z, because that, in my submission, would defeat one of the purposes of an independent audit, which is to have a qualified professional team in there looking for problems that may be of concern and affect the public interest that frankly none of us have anticipated, that aren't even raised in the evidence of Ms. Girardi -- and fairly -- and so I don't want to close that off. 

So as long as parties and the Board understands, we will be somewhat resistant of -- if you will -- a checklist that is a closed checklist.  We will always want the term that says to the auditors:  You are to look at these things and any other items which, in your discretion, you believe should be looked into in the public interest, or some words to that effect.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I hear that point, Mr. Tunley. 

Mr. Duffy, do you have a comment? 

MR. DUFFY:  Actually, I noticed Mr. Selznick seems to be itching for the button there.  Maybe I will let him have a say first.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  I would oppose that, and I would go back to Mr. Tunley's opening comments. 

The scope of this discussion today is very narrow. 

It is to talk about the two issues addressed in my letter of November 25th, not to extend the Board order to an audit beyond the scope that the Board has ordered.

The Board ordered an audit to determine compliance with the 20 point program, and I am not really that comfortable --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's approach this this way, that if parties -- and I am going to give parties some time to talk about this in a constructive and cooperative manner, and to develop, first, terms of reference that comprise the action items that have been described here today.

As a separate question, a sentence or paragraph as part of the terms of reference that would seek to give the auditor –- and I don't want to overstate this case, Mr. Tunley -- but carte blanche, there may be some median ground where, short of anything that may cross your mind as something that you can audit to some reasonable descriptor that does fall within the scope of what we're attempting to achieve.

So what I was going to suggest -- and again, subject to comment from the parties -- is that if we could return at 1:00 o'clock, I would -- and if this craters immediately, well, then, so be it.  The Board will certainly define the terms of reference for the audit going forward.

As I indicated, the Board will likely be looking to extend the period of the audit through the month of October. 

But it would be beneficial, I think, all the way around if the parties can come to a reasonable accommodation on this subject. 

So we will reconvene at 1:00 o'clock, subject to your comment, Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  The only comment I have is I will have to get instructions on that from the board of Summitt, who are more charged with making determinations of the scope of the audit than Ms. Girardi, who came to testify only on the evidence today.

So I will call them and see what instructions I can get.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  The fact is that the Board has the jurisdiction to determine what the audit is, or will be or will not be. 

And that may be part of your communication to your client.

So we will rise until 1:00 o'clock.  And again, I urge the parties to approach this in a cooperative, coordinated manner, and I think there is the potential for absolutely the right outcome here.  So thank you.  We will rise until 1:00.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:18 a.m.

--- On resuming at 1:10 p.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Mr. Selznick.


MR. SELZNICK:  I think we have come to terms on portions of an order, but not the totality, and I believe Mr. Duffy has copies of a black-lined version.  Have you passed them up yet?


MR. TUNLEY:  I actually have put them in front of you, and --


MR. SELZNICK:  Maybe I will ask Mr. Tunley to speak to it first.

Submissions by Mr. Tunley:


MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Mr. Selznick is correct.  We have agreed on an approach, but there are some wording issues that we will need the Board's direction on ultimately.


Let me just tell you what you're looking at.  You should each have a copy of a draft of the terms for a clarification order respecting review and audit.  Do you have that?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Hm-hm.


MR. TUNLEY:  Essentially, this would be formalized with some preliminaries as to the process that brought us here, and so on, but these are just the operative terms.


So paragraph 1 comes from page 56, paragraph number 3 in your decision, and simply formalizes.  This, as you know, is a paragraph already in your decision, and it sets the scope of the audit in terms of sales practices of Summitt and its agents.


So paragraphs 2 to 6, then, are taken from page 50 of your decision, if you wish to refer back.  One of the issues that will be argued I think by Mr. Selznick is paragraph 2.  The Board has said in its reasons there will be a review of 20 transactions.  Compliance counsel is asking just to -- to avoid a re-attendance, should that be necessary, of the words "or such larger number of transactions as the auditor may determine is necessary, given the purpose and scope of the audit."


Now, I have used the word "necessary" there.  I hope you both appreciate I am trying to make it -- the auditor has to be convinced that 20 is not enough, that to do the job you have asked them to do, they need to do more than 20.  If 20 is sufficient and it is not necessary to do more, they won't come back, but I just want the language in there so that the issue is there.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can I take it, then, as I look at this document, that the portions that are underlined are those portions that do not represent agreement between the parties?


MR. TUNLEY:  The portions that are underlined is anything you haven't already said.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Oh, okay.


MR. TUNLEY:  So there is agreement on some of the underlining.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. TUNLEY:  But one portion that is not agreed is the underlining in paragraph 2.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. TUNLEY:  So paragraph 3 is directly from your reasons.  There is no underlining there.


Paragraph 4 is the next substantive matter.  And so we're proposing:  The review and audit process will assess compliance with the act, regulations and codes by Summitt and its agents in the conduct of these transactions, in light of the 14-Point Program described in the Board's decision dated November 18, 2010, to the extent it was implemented and in effect as of November 1 -- sorry, and we are going to change that, as of...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The first date of the proposed audit period?


MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  So it will be as of October 18.  Sorry, the dates in paragraph 2 should be underlined, because they are added.


So as of October 18, 2010, as clarified in proceedings held on December 13.  That is today, obviously.


So what is agreed is the second portion of the underlining, including the reference date of October 18th.  Mr. Summitt (sic) corrected our draft of that, and everybody I think is agreed on October 18th as the reference date.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You have been elevated again, Mr. Selznick.


MR. TUNLEY:  Mr. Selznick, my apologies.


[Laughter]


MR. TUNLEY:  What is not agreed, and I will let Mr. Selznick speak to it, is the introductory language in paragraph 4.  So where it says "the review and audit will assess compliance with the act, regulations and codes", our submission will be that was the intent of the Board's order, and -- but I will let Mr. Selznick speak to his concern.


In paragraph 5, after discussion with counsel, this is from your original order, page 50, but the date -- there should be a date here.  I think counsel believe that the report can be filed by February 15, 2010 (sic), so if that were added at the end.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Hm-hm.


MR. TUNLEY:  Then paragraph 6 simply confirms the scope of the audit, again, to be compliance with the act, regulations and codes.  I believe Mr. Selznick has a concern about that language.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Well, why don't we -- is that the extent of your submissions on this?


MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  I really have just introduced you to what is here, but, yes, I will have some things to say I think in response to Mr. Selznick.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  Mr. Selznick.


MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Submissions by Mr. Selznick:


MR. SELZNICK:  We are trying to cooperate to get this done quickly, but we had to be careful not to end up having too much of sort of an order creep here in terms of what the proceedings were today.


Mr. Tunley was very specific - and I appreciate that - at the beginning of the day, because I too agree this was only to clarify two issues that we raised in the order.


I assume that because compliance counsel didn't take any issue with the order or request clarification, they were totally fine with the order as written, but for the matters that we raised.  I am a little bit worried today that although we have heard Ms. Girardi and we have heard her evidence, compliance counsel is now trying to bootstrap into this order some things that really weren't the subject of today's proceeding, in either point 1 or point 2 of Procedural Order No. 5, and, again, as I said, beyond the scope of which Mr. Tunley said he was going to speak today.


So just looking at these changes, we are quite content with the concept of picking an audit window the Board is comfortable with - here, it was suggested October 18th to November 18th; that's fine - to deal with compliance with the 14-Point Program as it existed in that window of time pursuant to the evidence of Ms. Girardi given today.  We are quite comfortable with that.  There should be no issue with that.


We also don't have any issue with moving the response date on the scope of the audit as proposed from January 15th to February 15th.  It seems to be one month.  It doesn't seem to be a huge thing.


I do have an issue, though, with expanding the scope of the audit beyond 20 transactions.  That seems to be a very specific number in the order.  Again, it wasn't something that compliance counsel took issue with or even proposed a greater number at any one point in time.  They didn't take issue with it but for our being here today.


Leaving it to the auditor to determine I don't think is really acceptable.  We were going to do an audit based upon 20, and the auditor would have done an audit based on 20.  Now we are telling the auditor, Well, what number should we use?  I still say whatever number you tell me to use, I will use.  If I feel it is not a representative sample, I may tell you in my report that here is what the report is, but we should do some more.


So I don't really know the answer to that, but I am not comfortable leaving it to the auditor to make that decision.  I think it is the Board's decision to make.  They have made that decision.  They shouldn't really delegate it to the auditor.  And the report is what the report will be, and it will come back.


I am not sure how long it would take, frankly, to do a larger size audit, how many more days it would take to return that.


Similarly, in paragraph 4, the way this read before - and it is the same point in paragraph 6 - was:

"The review and audit will assess compliance by Summitt and its agent in the conduct of these transactions, in light of the 14-Point Program..."


It did not say with the act, regulations and codes, and completely make a broad-brush audit.  I think that changes the scope of the audit and what my client has already spoken to an auditor about doing and the time it is going to take.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just let me intrude at this point.


It seems to me that it is not the 14-Point Program that we are particularly concerned about at this stage, but, rather, those portions of the 14-Point Program that have been, according to the evidence and the evidence that we heard today and the evidence previously and during the submissions, those changes to sales practices which have been implemented within the relevant period.


MR. SELZNICK:  Correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So it is not the 14-Point Program.


MR. SELZNICK:  No.  No.  I agree with the changes that are proposed in this paragraph 4, so far as they apply to the 14-Point Program, which continues on to the top of the second page here, to the extent it was implemented and in effect on October 18th, 2010 as clarified by the proceedings held.  I am comfortable with that.


I am not comfortable with the insertion in the first line of paragraph 4, which broadens the scope to act, regulations and codes.  We are here today to talk about the 14-Point Program, not a wider array.


Similarly, in paragraph 6, that paragraph read as it is written, but the underlined wording said 14-Point Program, not the act, regulations and codes.  And that is a much broader audit than what was ordered.  We need to go way beyond clarification. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Those are your submissions?

MR. SELZNICK:  Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the February 15th date is acceptable to you?

MR. SELZNICK:  Yes, based upon a 14 Point audit, a 14-Point Program audit that was in effect.  I am not sure what a broader audit would entail.  I would have to speak to the auditors about that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Tunley? 

MR. TUNLEY:  Perhaps I should respond first, and then Mr. Duffy may have some comments, but essentially, two issues my friend takes up.

Number of transactions, really what I heard in Mr. Selznick's submissions is exactly why we want this wording in.  I don't want -- given the time that has already gone by and the focus that we have to wrap this up, I don't want to wait until February 15 and get a report from an auditor that says 20 was never enough.  I want to give the auditor, assuming we are all going to agree -- my understanding in terms of who is going to do this audit, there are the names of, I believe, three major audit firms, and as long as they deliver a clear conflict statement, one of those is going to be acceptable to do the audit.  So that's fine.

But let's not have to come back just because they do all the work and February 15 comes around and they say:  You know what?  Twenty wasn't enough. 

It just makes sense, in my submission, for this Board today, since we are here, to clear that up. 

I don't think you heard submissions on that.  I agree with my friend you did say 20, flat 20 in your reasons.  No question about that.  It is just while we're here, does it not make sense -- I don't think that is a change to anything.  It is just giving an appropriate mandate to the entity that you have selected to do this job. 

So secondly, on the more substantive point, my respectful submission, when I read -- the wording in paragraph 4 that we're modifying, first of all, comes from page 50 of your decision.  And what you said was:

“The review and audit will assess compliance by Summitt and its agents in the conduct of these transactions, in light of the 14-Point Program described in elsewhere in this decision."

And you said that, in my respectful submission, because you have earlier in your reasons made the determination that if implemented, the 14-Point Program would likely be an acceptable compliance program, with the act, regulations and codes.  That is what you've done. 

So you're saying:  Having accepted that program, let's see if you are complying with it.  And that was fine as of the date you made your decision, assuming that it was all in place.

The problem that we have today is you made the decision that the 14-Point Program, if implemented, would comply.  Does what has been occurring between June and January, now, given what is missing from that program, does it still comply? 

In my respectful submission, all that we are proposing isn't changing your order.  Again, it is saying exactly what you said.  It is to assess compliance. 

Well, you comply with the act, regulations and codes.  That is what you do.  That is what we're interested in.  We approached this from the point of view, I am afraid, that that means that customers at the door are not misled.  That's what this hearing has been about, and the reason this order has been made is that customers were misled at the doorstep.

There is no point, in our submission, in specifying that let's audit to these 13 or 12 and a half or nine and a half points of a 14-Point Program and see if they're there. 

That is not what you want to know. 

You want to know:  Was the public protected?  Were the act and the regulations and the codes being complied with?  And if not, in this interim period, and if not, what more should you as a Board do about it.

So in my respectful submission, this is language that -- and it doesn't, in my submission, at all, expand the scope of or take you beyond what this hearing is about. 

Look at the wording of paragraph 1.  It is an audit to review and audit sales practices.  That is what this hearing has been about.  Not only that, if you look at the introductory words that haven't changed in paragraph 4, it is a review and audit to assess conduct of Summitt and its agents in these transactions, i.e., the 20 or 25 or however many the auditor thinks needs to be performed. 

That is what is going to be audited, and there is nothing -- we are not going to go into the act and regulations beyond the scope of this hearing.  We are absolutely squarely within the scope of this hearing.

And in my submission, it was perfectly fair for my friend to come and seek clarification of the wording.  I am glad he did it, because it has to be, at the end of the day, your concern, as I read your reasons, is:  Were customers adequately protected?  And was the act or was the act and the regulations and codes complied with in this interim period?  Yes or no?

So those are my submissions.  This wording is appropriate, in my submission.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Duffy, do you have anything to add? 
Submissions by Mr. Duffy:


MR. DUFFY:  Just a few points, Mr. Chair.

First of all, Board Staff did participate in the process of putting this together, and overall we are satisfied with what the parties have come up with and we think it is consistent with what the Board was ordering.

Just on the two points of dispute, with respect to the first one on the number of transactions, obviously 20 was what was chosen by the Board and was put in place as part of that decision.  While I appreciate Mr. Tunley's desire to make sure that this is completed and done today, I am not sure that is necessary to have to incorporate that language.  I would hope that if it becomes evident in the process of the audit to the audit firm and to Summitt that -- and compliance counsel that 20 is not going to be enough, that they need not wait until February 15th to come back and give us a report to that effect.

With respect to paragraph 4 and 6 and the additional language there, I think really when it comes down to the substance of the matter, our view would be that -- and I think from our earlier discussions with counsel, both are in agreement with this, which is that you wouldn't have an auditor who would be blind, who would be going in there with their eyes open and looking at what is happening.  At the same time, I don't think anyone wants a full-on compliance audit of every provision of the act and regulations and practice of Summitt. 

I don't think -- I don't know if the parties have been able to kind of kind of come together and work that out.  It doesn't seem that is possible, but I think if that intent were expressed and preserved, then that would probably be sufficient to satisfy the goals of the audit. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  The Board's primary consideration at this stage of the proceeding is to ensure that there is clarity about what is to be audited, and what the report will mean when it is generated on or about February the 15th. 

So I will admit to some concern about the somewhat impressionistic language that appears in the draft that is before us, and I would be happier if the requirement of the audit were more particularized. 

I think to that end, the Board is going to have to retire and make -- achieve that goal in our deliberation.  And I think there is probably not much more to say than that. 

What I can indicate is that as we have looked at and listened to the evidence and listened to the submissions, is that there are a series of measures that have been taken by Summitt that are in the evidence today, and I regard that as the clarification that was being sought by Summitt and by the Board in trying to ensure that we have a clear picture as to what is going to be audited during the period.  And the period will expand, clearly, in light of the evidence that's been provided today.

It seems common ground that an extension of time to February 15th seems to be reasonable, from all sides. 

I guess the outstanding issue really has to do with this concept of compliance with the act and regulations, as opposed to compliance with the undertakings and evidence that's been made available by Summitt. 

I guess I would only say this, that as Mr. Duffy indicates, it does not seem inherently to be the case that we would want to set the auditing firm off on a general audit of everything involved in the operation of the company, but rather compliance with the undertakings that have been provided in the hearing.  With one exception, and that, I don't think that it would be reasonable for the Board to hamstring the auditor to the extent that where the auditor found in the course of its audit notorious illegalities, that those would have to be part of the audit report. 

But not to set the auditor, necessarily, on that path towards a full compliance audit in every detail, but where the auditor finds in the course of its work that there are notorious illegalities, that those are things that could be part of the audit report.  I think it would be simply inconceivable that a Board-ordered audit report would not contain that kind of provision.  So that is in our thinking.

So what we are going to do is retire, briefly.  We are actually, I think, inclined to be much more specific about the things that we would ask the auditor to do in the course of its audit.  We will be back, I am hoping, within a half hour.  I am going to ask Board Staff to assist us in really what is essentially a clerical function in putting this together, but that is -- we will be back in half an hour with our determination.

Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 1:31 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:02 p.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.
DECISION:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has made a determination with respect to the terms of reference for the audit, which forms part of the Board's order that was issued on November the 18th, 2010 in this case.

The Board has chosen to be relatively prescriptive with respect to the terms of the audit.  And let me say that while I am giving this, our determination, orally, we will provide a written order to follow, which will capture our determination definitively.

First off -- and I will use to the extent possible the language that appears in the document that counsel put before us, which was entitled "Clarification of order respecting review and audit."  In fact, what we will call this is the "Order respecting Review and Audit", and it will provide as follows.

Summitt shall procure and review an audit of the sales practices of its retail salespersons in accordance with all of the following terms and conditions.

The review and audit shall involve a review of 20 transactions entered into between September 7th, 2010 and October 31st, 2010, chosen at random.

The entity undertaking the review and audit shall be an independent third party, recognized as an expert in conducting such activities.

The review and audit will assess compliance by Summitt and its agents in the conduct of these transactions with respect to -- and here follows a list of items that we will describe generally as the terms of reference.

Number one, the new Summitt sales verification process as described in Exhibit K7.1, which includes that audit by Summitt of 20 percent of the quality assurance calls.  This item, of course, relates to the 20 transactions that are to be the subject of the audit.

Two, the solicitation procedures and performance, once again, as described in Exhibit K7.1, which relate specifically to the form of agreement, the content of the disclosure form as described in K7.1, and the quality assurance calls and the audit of 20 percent of those calls referenced in item number one.  Again, that item relates to the 20 specific transactions, chosen by the auditor at random.

Number three, automation of the consumer complaint reporting function as described in Exhibit K7.1, including the point system innovation.  This, of course, is a kind of back office procedure.

Number four, the tracking agent complaints as described in Exhibit K7.1, including the weekly management meetings as described in K7.2.

And item number five, finally, the code of conduct training as described in Exhibit 7.1.  Again, this is a back office issue.

The period of the audit, as indicated, will be from September the 7th, 2010 to October the 31st, 2010.

The product of that review and audit will be a report, which will be filed with the Board and compliance staff on or about February the 15th, 2011.

The review and audit will contain a conclusion respecting the extent to which Summitt and its sales agents have substantially complied with the items covered in the terms of reference outlined above.

Plus, any notorious non-compliance situations disclosed in the course of completing the audit as described, but the Board wants to emphasize that this is not a full compliance audit per se, but an audit of the stipulated terms of reference items, but where notorious, obvious non-compliance situations emerge in the course of that audit, the auditor will be expected to report those.

Are there any questions arising from the Board's determination?

MR. SELZNICK:  Not for Summitt.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Tunley?

MR. TUNLEY:  No, thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As I have indicated, the Board will provide a written reflection of these findings, and once again -- and I'll reiterate the language that appears in the decision -- if the parties do need clarification with respect to any of these items, the Board continues to be seized of it and will continue to provide definitive guidance, as required.

Thank you very much.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:10 p.m.
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